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Introduction
A fascinating building existed at the North corner of Oak and Main Streets from 1863 to 1936.  It 
extended from Oak Street to Coly’s Hotel.   The building went through two owners in that time.  
From 1865 to 1918, it was owned by Dr. Sidney R. Burnap, and was known as the “Burnap 
Block”.  From 1918 to 1938, it was owned by Charles Colli, and was known as the “Central Hall 
Block”.    Below is a photo of that three-story brick building which had four storefronts on Main 
Street.   The arrow points to the Burnap Block, which is brick building with the chimneys on top.

What made that building so fascinating?   The answer is that it was a center of Windsor Locks 
social life, sporting events, and business.  It housed a large room whose floor was built over 
steel springs, which were installed to enhance the experience of dancing and of playing sports, 
such as basketball.  It was known as one of the best dance halls in the area.  That same room 
was also used for operas, movies, theatrical shows, musicals, large meetings, basketball games 
and boxing matches.   When this building was the Burnap Block, this room was called “The 
Burnap Opera House”.  When the building changed hands, that room became known as 
“Central Hall”.  
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This building contained many small businesses such as Garbarino’s Market, Outerson’s mens 
furnishings shop, Carroll’s millenary shop,  a Polish rooming house, and large businesses such 
as the telephone and telegraph companies, and the Windsor Locks Journal.   

This paper presents the history of this building throughout its life as the Burnap Block and later 
as the Central Hall Block.  This history is presented by means of 38 newspaper articles.  The 
narrative of this paper presents the history of the building as described in the 38 articles.  The 
38 articles which are included.  The reason for including them is that reading the descriptions of 
what was happening as written when it was happening, is far more interesting than reading a 
recent summary of the articles.   The articles are  short and easy to read.  A second reason for 
including the actual articles is that Windsor Locks High School and Middle School students who 
are doing Windsor Locks history projects can have full and easy access to these “primary 
sources” without having to look them up themselves.  While these articles are available on the 
internet, they are only accessible through the GenealogyBank.com website which requires a 
paid subscription. 

Here is a brief history of this building:
- Built in 1863 by Fred Abbe.
- Bought in about 1865 by Dr. Sidney R. Burnap of Windsor Locks, and known during his 

ownership as the Burnap Block.
- Bought by Charles Colli in 1918 and known as the Central Hall Block during his ownership.
- Bought by Graziano Graziani in 1938, and torn down to make a one story building which 

housed the A&P.  
- The A&P shut down in the late 1960s, when the Windsor Locks government forcibly bought all 

of the shops on Main St for it’s “re-development” program.  Under that program,  the building 
was demolished in the 1970s.

This paper is organized as follows:

- Section 1 - the Burnap Block
- Section 2 - Central Hall Block
- Section 3 -  A&P building
- Section 4 - Conclusions
- Appendix A - a 1938 newspaper article which gives a brief history of the building
- Appendix B -  Dr. Stanley Burnap
- Appendix C - Mr. Charles Colli
  

Section 1 - The Burnap Block (1865 - 1918)
This section covers the period after Dr. Burnap bought the building from Fred Abbe in 
about 1865, to when his estate sold the building to Charles Colli in 1918.  Let’s look at 
what clippings from three Springfield newspapers (the Republican, the Union, and the 
Daily News) say about the Burnap Block during that time.  

An April 30,1955 article, which describes the history of the Windsor Locks Journal is at 
Appendix A.   It says that the Windsor Locks Journal moved to the second floor of the 
Burnap Building in 1886.  In 1896, the Journal was sold to a new owner, and the printing
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operation was moved from the Burnap Building to the George P. Clark Co building on 
the banks of the canal.

The first newspaper references to the Burnap Building were in 1870.  The first was an 
advertisement by T.F.Carroll’s Millinery store, for a “first class Milliner”.

On June 18, 1870, Mr. Carroll ran an ad saying he wanted to buy a second-hand, 
medium size, fireproof safe.

               

In 1873, the Windsor Locks news section of the newspaper included the following 
statement that the “Merry-ten social club” would hold a ball at Burnap’s Block.

On June 3, 1875, Mr. Thomas Carrol placed an ad for three more first class milliners.
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On Dec 4, 1876, a single line in the Windsor Locks news section says that Mr. W. A. 
Dwight is remodeling Dr. Burnap’s old office to turn it into a jewelry store.

The next mention of the Burnap’s Block was on Oct. 24, 1885, where there was a short 
news article saying a meeting of the Democrats had occurred in Burnap’s Hall.

On May 27, 1887,  the women of St. Paul’s church will hold a strawberry and ice cream 
festival and fair in the Burnap Hall.   
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On Nov.24, 1888, a high society Ball was held at Burnap’s Hall which had the most 
important people from Windsor Locks including E. R. Bailey, J.R. Montgomery and 
Alfred Woods Converse. This was “high society” in WIndsor Locks.

On January 1, 1898, the New England telephone and telegraph company moved its 
office from the Pease Block (Allen Pease’s store) to the Burnap Block  The Pease block 
was on the South corner of Oak and Main Streets, while the Burnap Block was on the 
North corner.

�5



On January 14, 1904, an article was published saying the Burnap Opera House is in 
need of more exits in case of an emergency.
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On July 10, 1904, James D. Outerson, who was the town clerk, the town treasurer and 
registrar, as well as a businessman, is moving out of the Burnap Block to a store on 
Main St. 

The previous article did not say what type of business that Mr. Outerson was in, and it 
did not say where he was moving.  However, in the next article, both of those omissions 
are corrected.  He is moving to a store on the corner of Main and Church Streets, and 
his business is men’s furnishings.

The Egner Brothers have decided to refurbish the former quarters of Mr. Outerson, and 
turn them into a lunch room, as can be seen in the 1905 article.
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Mr Martin F. Dumschot, a tailor who had opened a shop in the Burnap Block six months 
earlier, has been missing for six weeks.   

The next article is interesting because of how the newspaper wrote about African 
Americans in the early 1900s.  The May 4, 1911 article is about a dance contest.  
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The March 12, 1912 article is about the problem of a large amount of money being 
missing from the bank.  There were disagreements as to how to solve the problem.   
While it doesn’t say so in the article, Dr. Burnap’s brother in law,  Mr. Alfred Woods 
Converse, had stolen $185,000 from the Windsor Locks savings bank.    Many citizens 
were going to lose their savings.  The problem of how to solve the problem was difficult 
and caused great controversy, as we can see in the March 12, 1912 article below.

The telephone company’s business was growing rapidly and they needed more room 
for more hardware to upgrade the previous telephones which were of older technology.  
The Oct. 27, 1912 article describes the situation.   
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The following is a long article which gives the details of the expansion of the Telephone 
Company’s business in Windsor Locks.  They were expanding to take up almost an 
entire floor of the Burnap Block on a ten year lease with an option for five more years.   
For anyone interested in the nature of the Telephone Company’s expansion, this is an 
excellent article.  The first two sentences in the article are about the bank problem. 
Someone must have forgotten to edit the article before it went to press.
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The May 6, 1913 article, which follows, shows that the telephone company’s new 
technology and the expansion worked very well. 

While the following article has a headline about an assault, the more interesting 
information in the article of Aug 21, 1913, was that the top floor of the Burnap Building 
had a Polish boarding house in it.   
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Sewers are an absolute necessity for a growing town.  The June 22, 1913 article tells 
about a meeting at the Burnap Block to vote on apportionment of the cost.
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The Western Union Telegraph company, which was housed at the Train Depot,  is being 
folded into the Telephone company.  The details are covered in the July 26, 1913 article 
below.  

In the Jan 14, 1914 article, we see that there were two movie theaters operating in 
Windsor Locks.  One was the Princess Theater, which was on top of Blanche’s Bowling 
Alley on Grove St. The other was the Burnap Opera House, which also showed movies.  
In this article, we see that the Burnap Opera House agreed to stop showing movies, and 
the Princess Theatre will continue to operate as a movie theater.
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In the Nov. 9, 1916 article, an interesting event is described.  A number of drum and 
bugle corps will present a series of dance programs in Burnap’s Hall.

                         

A Columbus Day ball at Burnap’s Hall, with music provided by an orchestra is described 
in the Oct. 8, 1916 article.

Up until now,  the telephone and telegraph companies had been integrating under the 
Telephone company at the Burnap Block.  However, the Feb. 12, 1916 article shows a 
change.  Now the telegraph company is moving out of the Burnap Block to the Carlisle 
Block, although business between the two companies will remain as it was. 
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That concludes the history of the Burnap Block while it was under the ownership of Dr. 
Sidney Burnap, who died in 1901.  The building stayed in the estate of Dr. Burnap until it 
was sold to Charles Colli in 1918.

Section 2 - Central Hall (1918 - 1938)
After 1916, no more newspaper articles could be found which referred to the Burnap 
Block.  From 1922 to 1934,  the Springfield newspapers had 122 articles which referred 
to “Central Hall”.   Central Hall was the former Burnap Block.     Those 122 articles are 
highly repetitive.  This section presents ten of the 122 newspaper articles to give the 
reader a feel of what was going on at Central Hall.  Most of the articles were about 
basketball scores or the results of boxing matches.   This set of ten newspaper articles 
is representative of the full set of 122.

The floor of the dance hall of  the Burnap Building which was built over springs 
remained in use in Central Hall.  That was the big room now used primarily for boxing 
matches, basketball games, and meetings.   

The first newspaper article 
mentioning Central Hall 
appeared on Jan. 27,1921.   It 
announced that the next night 
there would be a basketball 
game in Central Hall, followed 
by a dance.  That is  an 
interesting combination. 
 

The next article (Feb,23 1922) says 
that the Suffield Athletic Club 
basketball team will play the 
Windsor Locks “Churchills” in 
Central Hall.  

The Feb. 1, 1926 article says that 
the Chicopee Nonotucks will play 
the Windsor Locks “Advertisers”.   
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In the Jan 25, 1927 article, the Windsor Locks 
“Advertisers” have beaten the Springfield team.  
Two games were played.  The second was 
between two women’s teams.  Both the Windsor 
Locks and Springfield teams each had a mens 
and a women’s team

The Jan. 21, 1928 article describes a 
High School basketball game between 
Windsor Locks High School and 
Bloomfield High School.
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The Jan. 20, 1929 article is especially 
interesting for Windsor Locks residents 
who remember or remember hearing about 
Marconi’s Luncheonette, which was run by 
three brothers: Louis, John and Angelo.  
This article mentions Louie Marconi and 
“Andy” Marconi.  The latter must have 
been an error.  Possibly they meant 
“Angie," which would have referred to 
Angelo, but there is no way to know.  

The Jan. 23, 1929 article refers to the 
results of the boxing matches which were 
announced in the previous article.    Louie 
Marconi beat his opponent, Joe Mandell, of 
Springfield, but “Andy” Marconi was 
defeated by Billy O’Brien of Springfield.
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The Garbarino market in 
Central Hall Block was broken 
into, as we see in the Dec. 27, 
1929 newspaper article.  The 
interesting thing about this 
writeup is that it makes clear 
the entire building that used to 
be the Burnap Block was then 
known as the”Central Hall 
Block.”    The term “Central 
Hall” didn’t just refer to the Hall 
that was used for boxing, 
basketball, meetings, etc.

The Nov. 23, 1933 article gave the 
result of a meeting of the Athletic 
Association which decided to start 
a basketball team for the winter at 
Central Hall.

The newspaper article (March 15, 
1934) says that the Windsor Locks 
Advertisers will play the Chicopee 
Promoting quintet at Central Hall.

1934 was the last year in which newspaper articles mentioned Central Hall.  
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Section 3 - The A&P Building
In 1938, Charles Colli sold the Central Hall Block to Graziano Graziani, who razed the 
building and replaced it with a single story building which extended from Coly’s Hotel to 
Oak Street.   It had two storefronts.   The largest store was the A&P supermarket.  The 
smaller store, which was on the corner of Oak and Main Streets, was at one time a 
Western Auto store which was owned by Don LaRussa, who later turned it into the 
original “D.F.LaRussa’s” appliance store.  That pair of storefronts didn’t change much 
until 1979 when all the stores along Main St were razed for the process called “Re-
Development”.   Below is a photo of The A&P and the corner store before re-
development.     
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Section 4 - Conclusions
This article has traced the history of the building built on the corner of Main and Oak 
Streets in 1863.  No information was available about the building between the time it 
was built and the time when it was bought by Dr. Sidney R. Burnap in about 1865. It 
became known as “Burnap’s Block," and it soon became a social and business center of 
WIndsor Locks.   It contained a number of stores,  some major businesses such as the 
Windsor Locks Journal and the telephone and telegraph companies.  It also house a 
large hall known as Burnap’s Opera House which held operas and shows as well as 
movies, dances and large meetings.   We saw 27 newspaper articles which detailed the 
happenings and the changes in the Burnap Block.   Those newspaper articles were 
from Springfield newspapers from 1870 to 1916.  

Dr. Burnap died in 1901 and his estate sold the Burnap Block to Charles Colli in 1918.   
It then became known as the Central Hall Block.  Research turned up 122 newspaper 
articles about the Central Hall block from 1918 to 1934.  Those 122 articles turned out 
to be highly repetitive, and ten of them, which were representative of the entire set were 
presented and summarized.   While Central Hall continued to house businesses and 
stores, as did the Burnap Block, most of the news storied were about sporting events in 
the big room that used to be called “Burnap’s Opera House”.  That room became more 
focussed on sports, especially basketball and boxing.  It was also used for meetings 
and for dances.   We saw some change in the use of the building from when it was the 
Burnap Block to when it became the Central Hall Block,  but it remained a social and 
business center of Windsor Locks.  

The building was razed after it was bought in 1935 by Graziano Graziani, and replaced 
with a one story building housing the A&P and a smaller store on the corner of Oak and 
Main Streets.    Not much changed with the building until the redevelopment of Main St 
in 1979, when the building was torn down.

I thank Mickey Danyluk for his encouragement and help with this article.  After reading a 
draft of this paper, he provided valuable feedback and further information for 
incorporation into the text, as well as the photographs of Dr. Burnap and of his house.

I hope the reader enjoyed and profited from this article, and I thank him/her for reading 
it.  Please pass it on to anyone else you know who might be interested in Windsor 
Locks history.

Mel Montemerlo
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APPENDIX A:   Newspaper article with the history of 
Burnap Block

There is an error in the above article.  The man’s name was Graziano Graziani, not Graziani 
Graziano.

APPENDIX B:  Dr. Sidney R. Burnap
Information on Dr. Sidney R. Burnap was hard to find.    He was born in 1833 and he 
died in 1901.    He was married to Clara A. Converse Burnap (1842 - 1938). They had 
two daughters, Mary Converse Burnap (1869 - 1947), and Clara Annie Burnap,   He 
was a physician and a financier.
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 He and his family lived in a very large house on Maple Street.  It sat on about 100 
acres of land.  The house was called “The Castle” by some.   The 26 room house was a 
popular place for town picnics and socials gatherings.  When the Burnap family sold 
their estate,  the land was subdivided and put up for auction.   According to Mickey 
Danyluk,  a fire in a barn at the Burnap estate was the impetus for WIndsor Locks to 
form a Fire Department.    One can assume that Dr. Burnap had a good deal of 
influence in the town government.  Dr. Burnap died on Sept. 3, 1901, at the age of 68.  
He is buried in Grove Cemetary in Windsor Locks. Below Is a portrait of Dr. Burnap , 
and an 1880 photo of his estate with his family in front.
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Burnap's brother-in-law, Alfred Woods Converse, a highly esteemed man who served as 
both the town's postmaster and manager of the Windsor Locks Bank, died in the Burnap 
mansion.  He had shot himself in the chest with a pistol while in his own home.  He 
claimed he was cleaning his pistol when it discharged.  He called for help and was 
taken to his sister's house where he died on January 14, 1912.   His sister was Dr. 
Burnap’s widow. (information from Mickey Danyluk).

Two weeks after Mr. Converse’s death, Windsor Locks Bank officials confirmed that 
$185,000 had been stolen from the safe.  Alfred Woods Converse was an important 
man in Windsor Locks.  He was the  Town Clerk, head of the GAR (Civil War veterans 
association), head of the Masons, Treasurer of the Windsor Locks Savings Bank, and 
Postmaster of Windsor Locks.

Appendix C:  Charles Colli (1882 - 1938)
Charles Colli was born in 1882 and died in 1938. He is buried in St. Mary’s Cemetary. 
He was married to Lena A. Massino, who was born in 1876 and died in 1930.  They had 
one son, Charles, who was born in 1905 and died in 1930.  Here is a photo of Charles 
Colli with his first business in Windsor Locks,  a grocery and meat cart.  He used a cart 
as his store.   The 1913 Aero Map of WIndsor Locks lists a business owned by Charles 
Colli as:  “Colli, Charles. Flour, Grain and Feed. Center St.”   He was also the Fire Chief.
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